

POLICY BRIEF 2022



The LEVEL Youth Policy Program takes place on the traditional and unceded territories of the $x^w m \partial \theta k^w \partial y^{\omega} \partial m$ (Musqueam), Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) & səlilwəta?4 (Tsleil-Waututh) Coast Salish peoples.

GRAPHIC DESIGN And Also Too

COVER ILLUSTRATION semillites hernández velasco

HEADSHOT PHOTOGRAPHY Mike Wells

Contents

- About the LEVEL Initiative 3
- 4 **Biography**
- 5 **Executive Summary**
- 6 Background
- 8 The Issues
- 12 **Policy Options**
- Conclusion 14
- 15 Endnotes
- 17 **Bibliography**
- 19 **Acknowledgements**



About the LEVEL Initiative

LEVEL is a youth engagement initiative of Vancouver Foundation that aims to address racial inequity. We do this by investing in the leadership capacity of Indigenous, racialized, immigrant, and refugee youth to create more opportunities throughout the non-profit and charitable sector.

Despite being the fastest-growing youth populations in British Columbia, Indigenous, immigrant, and refugee youth don't have the same opportunities as other young people. Race continues to be a factor that hinders their ability to have a say in decisions that impact their lives.

LEVEL empowers these youth by building their capacity to challenge and change those systems that hinder their ability to build a more just world.

LEVEL consists of three pillars of work to advance racial equity

1. LEVEL Youth Policy Program 2. LEVEL Youth Organizing 3. LEVEL BIPOC Granting

About the LEVEL Youth Policy Program (LEVEL YPP)

The LEVEL Youth Policy Program (LEVEL YPP) brings together young people between the ages of 19 and 29 from across British Columbia who identify as being Indigenous or racialized immigrants or refugees. Indigenous and racialized Newcomer youth are dispropor-

tionately impacted by certain public policies but are rarely included in the development and implementation of public policy process. The LEVEL YPP aims to provide these youth with equitable training and leadership opportunities to better navigate the public policy landscape, and to develop new tools and skills to influence, shape, and advocate for policy changes that are relevant in their own communities. Having young people directly involved in shaping policies that impact their lives is essential to creating systemic, meaningful change. The LEVEL YPP's training is grounded from and within Indigenous peoples' worldviews, which the program acknowledges, could vary from person-to-person or nation-to-nation. Indigenous worldviews place a large emphasis on connections to the land. This perspective views the land as sacred; where everything and everyone is related and connected; where the quality of the relationships formed are key in life; where what matters is the success and well-being of the community, and where there can be many truths as they are based on individual lived experiences.¹ As such, an important premise of this training is to centre and place a particular focus on the fact that the work that has gone into developing this training, as well as the training itself, has taken and will take place on unceded (never given away/stolen) territories of the hang 'amin 'am-speaking Musqueam peoples, of the Halkomelem-speaking Tsleil-Waututh peoples, and of the sníchim-speaking Skwx wú7mesh (Squamish) peoples.

1. https://www.ictinc. ca/blog/indigenous-peoples-worldviews-vs-western-worldviews

Biography

WeiChun Kua



WeiChun Kua (柯伟俊) is a secondgeneration stateless Chinese migrant, originally from Brunei Darussalam. He's an active climate and migrant justice organizer and has been living, learning and playing on the unceded and traditional territory of the Coast Salish Peoples for six years. He's led campaigns that led to Simon Fraser University (SFU) fully divesting from fossil fuel, and continues to organize around issues that affect migrant students and workers.

Executive Summary

As Canada continues to face issues of labour shortages and an aging population, migrants are filling in the gap and working in essential jobs in sectors such as healthcare and food.

Despite decades of how much migrants consistently contribute to the economy and labour market, they are not being treated with the humanity and dignity they deserve. The immigration system in Canada constantly keeps migrants in a state of temporary and precarious status, by putting migrants on temporary permits. The pathway of obtaining Permanent Resident status is filled with systemic barriers and discriminatory conditions that exclude many migrants and keep it out of their reach. This state of temporary status deprives migrants the rights and protection they deserve from exploitation and abuse. From wage theft and unsafe working conditions, to fear of losing their permits and risking deportations, migrants are often left at the mercy of their employers and the institutions that exploit them. In order to truly address these issues and improve the lives of migrants, the federal government and the Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC) must stop treating migrants as temporary, and provide permanent status for all migrants.





The pathway of obtaining **Permanent Resident status is** filled with systemic barriers and discriminatory conditions that exclude many migrants and keep it out of their reach.

Background

Canada has set out a hefty goal of welcoming 431,645 immigrants in 2022, 447,055 immigrants in 2023 and 451,000 immigrants in 2024.¹

This is a big goal for Canada to achieve, as the highest record of permanent resident admissions was in 2021, with 401,000 admissions.² This record surpassed the previous 1913 record with 400,870³ admissions. Throughout these past 108 years of Canada's immigration history, it has been riddled with issues of backlogs,⁴ confusing, discriminatory and untransparent immigration policy changes and decision-making, which continues to affect many migrants today who have invested their time and financial resources in building a family and career, and establishing relationships and community in Canada. As long as there is no major meaningful changes to immigration policy, thousands of migrants will continue to be at risk of becoming undocumented and deported.

Immigration is needed for Canada as stated by the IRCC for supporting the aging population, meeting labour market needs, filling temporary labour needs, sustaining Canada's education system through international students, and boosting trade.⁵ There are several pathways under different classes that migrants can take to obtain permanent resident (PR) status,

 Economic Class: "for which applicants are selected on the basis of their ability to become economically established in Canada."⁶ This includes, but is not limited to, the Canadian Experience Class (CEC) —which majority of international students go through—Provincial Nominee Program (PNP), Agri-Food Pilot Program (does not include seasonal agricultural workers), and Caregiver programs.

Programs under this class all have their own eligibility requirements. For example, CEC is based on a "sophisticated" points system called the **Comprehensive Ranking** System⁷ (CRS) with the following main factors of language proficiency skills, education, Canadian work experience, a valid job offer, and/or a nomination from a province or territory being allotted a certain point for each.

Other factors that are also allocated points include age, level of education, foreign work experience, and siblings living in Canada who are citizens or Permanent Residents, iust to name a few.

- 2. Non-economic Class: "for which applicants are selected on the basis of familyreunification, social, and humanitarian objectives."⁸ This includes:
 - a) Family
 - b) Refugees and Protected Persons
 - c) Humanitarian and Other

Although the above stated programs provide permanent residency pathways for many



Canada's immigration history [...] has been riddled with issues of backlogs,confusing, discriminatory and untransparent immigration policy changes and decision-making.



migrants, there are also other migrants who are not eligible for these programs and have no other existing pathways or programs to permanent residency, such as migrant workers in the Seasonal Agricultural Workers Program (SAWP), climate migrants, and undocumentedmigrants. Undocumented migrants can apply for PR status through Humanitarian and Compassionate application and but it only has a 5% success rate.⁹

Canada's immigration system is seen as one of the world's best, but as with any immigration system, it has its flaws and barriers that greatly affect migrants in Canada. One of the major issues is that it requires migrants to live and exist in Canada on a temporary status under temporary permits such as work and study permits. Although it can be seen as fair and reasonable for migrants to be on temporary status and to have to "prove" themselves first by meeting the eligibility requirements before they can be officially admitted as a Permanent Resident and allowed to stay in Canada indefinitely, this positions migrants to be in precarious situations that put them at risk of being exploited by employers and institutions.



Canada's immigration system is seen as one of the world's best, but as with any immigration system, it has its flaws and barriers that greatly affect migrants in Canada. Seasonal Agricultural Workers, ineligible to apply for PR status. Photo by Tim Mossholder on Unsplash

The Issues

MIGRANT STUDENTS

International students, or better referred to as migrant students as a term of solidarity-who are not just students but also workers facing the same immigration issues and exploitations as other migrants in Canada—are increasingly being taken advantage of for their labour and economic contribution, especially in the Canadian post-secondary education system.

Migrant students weren't categorized as immigrants until the 1970's, when political discourse about our place and role in Canada came into question. Conservative MPs at that time were perpetuating the racist and discriminatory notion that migrant students are here to take up space and resources in post-secondary institutions, as well as to steal jobs that were meant for Canadian citizens.¹⁰ This period was also when differential fees -international student fees-were first introduced.

Fifty-two years later, post-secondary institutions (PSI) across Canada are now over-reliant on and exploitative of migrant students in order to help these institutions stay afloat with international tuition fees currently at over four times more than domestic tuition fees.^{11 12} This is no fault of migrant students; it is due to the chronic decrease in public funding to PSI over many decades.¹³ The stereotype and notion that all migrant students are rich is evidently false, as many migrant students work more than one part-time job to sustain themselves, but conditions on study permit limit students to only being able to work 20 hours per week. This opens up migrant students to exploitation by employers as

working illegally under-the-table becomes the only option in order to adequately support themselves financially.¹⁴ If caught, migrant students can lose their study permit and be deported.

After spending years completing a post-secondary education and obtaining a Canadian degree, migrant students are not automatically eligible for permanent residency status. Migrant students have to gain a minimum of one year full-time Canadian work experience under the National Occupational Classification (NOC) of type A, B, and 0, and meet other eligibility requirements for the CEC program which includes taking a language

proficiency exam that costs hundreds of dollars and is only valid two years-despite having already completed their entire post-secondary education in English or French. Not included in the work experience needed for permanent residency is the work experience migrant students gained while on their study permit. Throughout this whole unfair process for PR status, migrant students are put on another

As with other migrant workers, care workers are constantly forced into precarious situations, including little or no worker protection from labour laws, being underpaid, and facing systemic barriers to permanent resident eligibility.

temporary permit, the Post-graduation Work Permit (PGWP), which is a one-time, non-renewable permit.

In 2018, migrant students contributed \$19.7 billion in GDP, \$3.7 billion in tax revenue, and supported 218,577 jobs in Canada.¹⁵ Despite this, migrant students receive very little support for their wellbeing in comparison to their economic and social contribution to Canadian society. This has a large toll on migrant students' wellbeing and mental health, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic,¹⁶ many of whom live far away from their families, and have to independently navigate through their struggles and the unfair immigration process.

MIGRANT CARE WORKERS

Migrant care workers are essential to Canadian labour needs, they provide care for children of busy working parents, care for the elderly, and care for people with disabilities. Their presence is especially crucial since Canada has a growing and aging population that needs care workers. As with other migrant workers, care workers are constantly forced into precarious situations, including little or no worker protection from labour laws, being underpaid, and facing systemic barriers to permanent resident eligibility. Most care workers are racialized women, with 90% of care workers coming from the Philippines in 2009.17

Behind Closed Doors, a grassroot organization made up of current and former migrant care workers, published multiple reports on care workers' reality and lived experience that shows just how much care workers are exploited and abused. Some of the examples state that 37.5% of respondents report they are not allowed to leave their employer's home, that they work uncompensated overtime hours with an average of \$226 of stolen wages per week, and there has been negative impact on their physical and mental health from the accumulated stress of family separation, and uncertainty with obtaining PR status and job



BEHIND CLOSED DOORS

EXPOSING MIGRANT CARE WORKER **EXPLOITATION DURING COVID-19**



loss.¹⁸ Once a care worker loses their job, it is often difficult to find another due to certain programs, such as the Live-in Caregiver Program, needing a new Labour Market Impact Assessment (LMIA), which can take between 6 to 10 months. So migrant care workers risk their work permit expiring before acquiring a new one and becoming undocumented.¹⁹

In order for migrant care workers to qualify for PR status, they must complete a 24-month work requirement, prove their English language proficiency, and have educational accreditation equivalent to one-year of Canadian post-secondary education. Because of these requirements for PR status, migrant

Exposing Migrant Care Worker Exploitation During COVID-19, report by Behind **Closed Doors.**

care workers are unwilling to report wage theft and any labour related exploitation by their employers. They need their employers to provide proof of employment and/or a recommendation letter to obtain another job if they lose their previous one, which was common due to the COVID-19 pandemic with one in three workers having lost their jobs.²⁰ Grassroot migrant organizations in Canada such as Behind Closed Doors have long called for PR status for all migrant care workers because it directly addresses the root issue of migrant worker exploitation created by the temporary and precarious status migrant workers are forced into under the current immigration policies and labour programs.

MIGRANT FARM WORKERS

The agriculture industry in Canada relies heavily on migrant farm workers from Mexico and Caribbean countries who come to work through the Seasonal Agricultural Worker Program (SAWP) for seasonal farms and the Temporary Foreign Worker Program (TFWP) for year-round agricultural work. Migrant farm workers under SAWP are permitted to work in Canada for a maximum of eight months in a year and TFWP for a maximum of 48 months. The Canadian Agricultural Human Resource Council (CAHRC) reported in 2015 that SAWP had an economic impact of \$5.4 billion in Ontario.²¹ Domestic food production is critical in providing residents of Canada with sufficient fresh and nutritional food, especially during times when international supply chains are disrupted, which is what happened at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, and with the on-going Russia-Ukraine conflict.²²

It is clear that migrant farm workers are essential to Canada's food security, and yet they are grossly and unfairly mistreated, and subject to appalling work and living conditions. A 2015 report from the Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives found that workers often have to work with poorly maintained equipment, unsanitary farms, poor and overcrowded housing conditions provided



Due to the nature of being undocumented and the constant fear of being discovered and subsequently deported, accessing social services such as healthcare, or even everyday recreation services, becomes dangerous and risky. by their employers, and are underpaid for their work.²³ When the COVID-19 pandemic hit, farm workers were given no information, protection, and weren't paid during their 14 days of self-isolation if they caught COVID-19.²⁴ The fear of losing their jobs, immigration status, and dependency on their employers to bring them back the next year prevents farm workers from filing formal complaints or even speaking up about their working conditions.

For SAWP workers, there are no existing pathways to obtaining PR status and for TFWP farm workers, the language, education and job offer requirements, similar to migrant care workers, makes it difficult to qualify for permanent residency. This only seeks to benefit the employers as they exploit and extract labour from a constantly temporary and precarious workforce that has little or no option to protect themselves.

UNDOCUMENTED MIGRANTS

Migrants can become undocumented while in Canada, or upon entry, for many reasons such as expiration of temporary permits, rejection of refugee claims, lack of or unrecognized official identity documents, and human trafficking. While there is no accurate data on how many undocumented migrants currently exist in Canada, it's estimated to be between 20,000 to 500,000 persons.²⁵ Undocumented migrants typically work in construction, agriculture, caregiving, and housekeeping jobs.

10 POLICY BRIEF 2022 WEICHUN KUA

Due to the nature of being undocumented and the constant fear of being discovered and subsequently deported, accessing social services such as healthcare, or even everyday recreation services, becomes dangerous and risky. The only ways for

undocumented migrants to gain legal status is either through Humanitarian and Compassionate application, or one-time regularization programs such as the **Out-of-Status Construction** Workers Public Policy,26 and the most recent Guardian Angels program.²⁷ Regularization programs have criteria that are meant to exclude applicants on the basis of the length of their residency, criminal record, having a family, employment, and medical condition.²⁸



Since one of the reasons migrants become undocumented is due to losing their temporary permits, it would make the most sense to grant migrants permanent status upon arrival to avoid the issue altogether.

Since one of the reasons migrants become undocumented is due to losing their temporary permits, it would make the most sense to grant migrants permanent status upon arrival to avoid the issue altogether.

Regardless of legal status, undocumented migrants still contribute to the labour market, economy, and are part of our communities; being undocumented does not change that but only serves to leave them vulnerable to exploitation and abuse by employers, landlords, and authorities.

Policy Options

At some level, the federal government seems to recognize the issues with the inefficient immigration process and how much they need migrants.

The Prime Minister's 2021 mandate letter to the Minister of Immigration, Refugees, and Citizenship instructed on building upon existing regularization pilot programs, and to expand permanent residency pathways for migrant students and workers. Parliament also passed Motion 44 in May 2022, which tasked the government to develop a comprehensive plan in 120 days to expand pathways to permanent residency for temporary foreign workers, including international students. This is an opportune time for the federal government to come up with an ambitious immigration plan that truly addresses the root issues of the current immigration system.

It is evidently clear that migrants are integral to the labour market, economy, and communities in Canada. Yet, they are not granted the dignity and humanity they so very well deserve. This cycle of exploitation and abuse will only continue as long as all migrants are not granted PR status and kept in a status of temporariness and precarity.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Permanent Status for All Migrants.

The immigration system in Canada is long overdue for a radical change. It needs one that grants PR status to all current migrants and future migrants upon arrival without conditions and terms. In developing this new immigration policy, the IRCC needs to work closely with grassroot migrant organizations such as the Migrant Rights Network and Indigenous Host Nations in the shaping and implementation of this new immigration policy.

In the interim, while this much needed immigration policy is being carefully crafted, planned and implemented, the IRCC should:

- a) Count all work experience in Canada, and eliminate the NOC system for Express Entry and other work experience requirements for other permanent residency immigration programs.
- b) Eliminate the language proficiency requirements.
- c) Make work permits permanently renewable and open.
- d) Remove educational requirements that are not attainable for many migrant workers.
- e) Reduce the permanent residency application fee to under \$100.
- f) Allow undocumented migrants to restore their temporary status and remove the 90-day period limit after which migrants cannot restore their work permits.

1 Including Indigenous Communities and Host Nations in the creation, and implementation of immigration policies.

Canada, being on stolen lands, needs to start including Indigenous People(s) in the crafting and implementation of immigration policies that are bringing in uninvited guests to their traditional territories. As stated in Article 27 of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP): states shall establish a process in conjunction with Indigenous People(s) to recognize and adjudicate the rights of Indigenous People(s) pertaining to their traditionally owned or otherwise occupied or used land, territories, and resources.

In addition, the federal government should implement relatively easily the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada Calls to Action #93 and #94 alongside the rest of the calls to action. The federal government should also encourage the relationshipbuilding between migrants and their local Host Nations and Indigenous communities by promoting job and volunteer opportunities to migrants that fulfill labour shortages in those communities. This will provide an avenue for migrants to be exposed and learn about the cultures, history, and governance of Indigenous People(s) of Canada and how to be respectful guests on their land.



Canada, being on stolen lands, needs to start including Indigenous People(s) in the crafting and implementation of immigration policies that are bringing in uninvited guests to their traditional territories.

Conclusion



As long as migrants in Canada remain on a temporary and precarious status, and are economically vulnerable, we will continue to struggle and be open to exploitation by employers and institutions, despite our essential labour, economic, and social contribution to Canada.

Instead of band-aid solutions in the form of one-time and temporary programs and pathways, Canada should look toward a radical change to the current immigration system entirely with one that has no conditions and restrictions, and simplify it into a single immigration pathway for all types of migrants. Because the fact and reality is that we, as migrants, are here and existing, and we are essential. We deserve the same permanent status, fair rights, humanity, and dignity as anyone else living in Canada. Instead of band-aid solutions in the form of one-time and temporary programs and pathways, Canada should look toward a radical change to the current immigration system entirely with one that has no conditions and restrictions, and simplify it into a single immigration pathway for all types of migrants.

ENDNOTES

- 1. Notice—Supplementary Information for the 2022-2024 Immigration Levels Plan. https:// www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/news/notices/supplementary-immigration-levels-2022-2024.html
- 2. Canada welcomes the most immigrants in a single year in its history. https://www.canada. ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/ news/2021/12/canada-welcomes-the-most-immigrants-in-a-single-year-in-its-history.html
- 3. Immigrant arrivals, 1913 to 1965, Statistics Canada. https://www65.statcan.gc.ca/ acyb02/1967/acyb02_19670218001-eng.htm
- 'Our lives have come to a screeching halt': Canada's immigration backlog reaches 2.4M, CTV News. https://www.ctvnews.ca/canada/ our-lives-have-come-to-a-screeching-haltcanada-s-immigration-backlog-reaches-2-4m-1.5950219
- 5. #ImmigrationMatters: Canada's immigration track record. https://www.canada.ca/en/ immigration-refugees-citizenship/campaigns/ immigration-matters/track-record.html
- 6. Permanent resident program. https://www. canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publications-manuals/operational-bulletins-manuals/permanent-residence. html
- Comprehensive Ranking System (CRS) Criteria—Express Entry. https://www.canada. ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/ services/immigrate-canada/express-entry/eligibility/criteria-comprehensive-ranking-system/ grid.html
 Economic Impact Of International Education In Canada - 2020 Update Final Report, Canmac Economics Limited. https://www.international. gc.ca/education/assets/pdfs/economic_impact_ international_education_canada_2017_2018. pdf
- 8. Permanent resident program. https://www. canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publications-manuals/operational-bulletins-manuals/permanent-residence. html

9. The Regularization of Non[®]Status Immigrants in Canada 1960[®]2004. https://www.kairoscanada.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/ The-Regularization-of-NonStatus-Immigrants-in-Canada-1960-2004.pdf

- Inventing International Students: Exploring Discourses in International Student Policy Talk, 1945 – 75, Dale M. McCartney, University of British Columbia. https://historicalstudiesineducation.ca/index.php/edu_hse-rhe/article/ view/4457/4727
- 11. How International Tuition Fees Keep Canadian Universities Afloat, Alex Usher, Higher Education Strategy Associates. https:// higheredstrategy.com/how-international-tuition-fees-keep-canadian-universities-afloat/
- 12. Tuition fees by university, Universities Canada. https://www.univcan.ca/universities/facts-andstats/tuition-fees-by-university/
- 13. The State of Canadian Post-Secondary Education, 2018, Alex Usher, Higher Education Strategy Associates. https://higheredstrategy. com/the-state-of-canadian-pse-2018/
- 14. International students are being exploited in Peel and they're dying, say advocates, Brampton Guardian. https://www.bramptonguardian.com/ news-story/10475154-international-studentsare-being-exploited-in-peel-and-they-re-dyingsay-advocates/

16. Pandemic takes tragic toll on international students with rising deaths by suicide: report, Global News. https://globalnews.ca/ news/7745098/pandemic-takes-tragic-toll-oninternational-students-with-rising-deaths-bysuicide-report/

BIBLIOGRAPHY

17. Equal Rights For Migrant Care Workers The Case For Immigration Policy Transformation, Rishika Wadehra, Canadian Centre For Policy Alternatives. https://policyalternatives.ca/sites/ default/files/uploads/publications/National%20 Office/2021/10/Equal%20rights%20for%20 migrant%20care%20workers.pdf

18. Exposing Migrant Care Worker Exploitation During Covid- 19, Behind Closed Doors. https://migrantrights.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2020/10/Behind-Closed-Doors_ Exposing-Migrant-Care-Worker-Exploitation-During-COVID19.pdf

- 19. Care Worker Voices For Landed Status And Fairness, Migrant Workers Alliance For Change. https://migrantrights.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2018/11/Care-Worker-Voices-for-Landed-Status-and-Fariness.pdf
- 20. Exposing Migrant Care Worker Exploitation During Covid- 19, Behind Closed Doors. https://migrantrights.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2020/10/Behind-Closed-Doors Exposing-Migrant-Care-Worker-Exploitation-During-COVID19.pdf
- 21. The Economic Impact of the Seasonal Agricultural Worker Program in the Ontario Horticulture Sector, Al Mussell, Agri-Food Economic Systems. https://cahrc-ccrha.ca/sites/default/ files/2021-11/2015-04-EconomicImpactSAW-PHorticulture-Apr-15.pdf
- 22. Food prices in Canada to rise as Russia invades Ukraine, 'Europe's breadbasket', Global News. https://globalnews.ca/news/8643964/ukrainerussia-food-prices-canada/
- 23. Citizenship and Precarious Labour in Canadian Agriculture, Gerardo Otero and Kerry Preibisch, Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. https://policyalternatives.ca/ sites/default/files/uploads/publications/ BC%20Office/2015/11/CCPA-BC_CitizenshipPrecariousLabourCdnAgri_web.pdf

- 24. The Status Of Migrant Farm Workers In Canada, 2020, Ufcw Canada And The Agriculture Workers Alliance. https://ml.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/709696c3-7d67-4d2d-bf71-e600701a2c8c
- 25. CIMM–Undocumented Populations–March 3, 2022, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/transparency/committees/cimm-mar-03-2022/undocumented-populations.html
- 26. HUMA Out-of-Status Construction Workers Public Policy, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/ immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/ transparency/committees/huma-may-8-2020/ out-of-status-construction-workers.html
- 27. CIMM Guardian Angels (Asylum Claimants Working on the Front Lines), Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https:// www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/transparency/committees/ cimm-mar-08-2021/cimm-guardian-angels-mar-08-2021.html
- 28. The Regularization of Non? Status Immigrants in Canada 1960 2004. https://www.kairoscanada.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/ The-Regularization-of-NonStatus-Immigrants-in-Canada-1960-2004.pdf
- 29. My work permit expired and I did not apply to extend it. Can I stay and keep working in Canada?, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.cic.gc.ca/english/ helpcentre/answer.asp?qnum=192&top=17

#ImmigrationMatters: Canada's immigration track record, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/campaigns/immigration-matters/ track-record.html

'Our lives have come to a screeching halt': Canada's immigration backlog reaches 2.4M, CTV News. https://www.ctvnews.ca/canada/our-lives-havecome-to-a-screeching-halt-canada-s-immigrationbacklog-reaches-2-4m-1.5950219

Canada welcomes the most immigrants in a single year in its history, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/ immigration-refugees-citizenship/news/2021/12/ canada-welcomes-the-most-immigrants-in-a-singleyear-in-its-history.html

Canadian Journal of Higher Education | Revue canadienne d'enseignement supérieur 51:3 (2021) "A guestion of self-interest": A brief history of 50 vears of international student policy in Canada, Dale M. McCartney, University of the Fraser Valley. https://journals.sfu.ca/cjhe/index.php/cjhe/article/ view/189179/186497

Care Worker Voices For Landed Status And Fairness, Migrant Workers Alliance For Change. https://migrantrights.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2018/11/Care-Worker-Voices-for-Landed-Status-and-Fariness.pdf

CIMM - Guardian Angels (Asylum Claimants Working on the Front Lines), Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/ en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/ transparency/committees/cimm-mar-08-2021/ cimm-guardian-angels-mar-08-2021.html

CIMM–Undocumented Populations–March 3, 2022, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/transparency/committees/cimm-mar-03-2022/undocumented-populations.html

Citizenship and Precarious Labour in Canadian Agriculture, Gerardo Otero and Kerry Preibisch, Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. https:// policyalternatives.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/ publications/BC%20Office/2015/11/CCPA-BC CitizenshipPrecariousLabourCdnAgri_web.pdf

Comprehensive Ranking System (CRS) Criteria -Express Entry, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/ en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/services/ immigrate-canada/express-entry/eligibility/criteria-comprehensive-ranking-system/grid.html

Economic Impact Of International Education In Canada - 2020 Update Final Report, Canmac Economics Limited. https://www.international.gc.ca/ education/assets/pdfs/economic_impact_international_education_canada_2017_2018.pdf

Equal Rights For Migrant Care Workers The Case For Immigration Policy Transformation, Rishika Wadehra, Canadian Centre For Policy Alternatives. https://policvalternatives.ca/sites/default/files/ uploads/publications/National%20Office/2021/10/ Equal%20rights%20for%20migrant%20care%20 workers.pdf

Exposing Migrant Care Worker Exploitation During Covid-19, Behind Closed Doors. https://migrantrights.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Behind-Closed-Doors Exposing-Migrant-Care-Worker-Exploitation-During-COVID19.pdf

Food prices in Canada to rise as Russia invades Ukraine, 'Europe's breadbasket', Global News. https://globalnews.ca/news/8643964/ukraine-russia-food-prices-canada/

How International Tuition Fees Keep Canadian Universities Afloat, Alex Usher, Higher Education Strategy Associates. https://higheredstrategy.com/ how-international-tuition-fees-keep-canadian-universities-afloat/

https://ml.globenewswire.com/Resource/ Download/709696c3-7d67-4d2d-bf71e600701a2c8c

HUMA - Out-of-Status Construction Workers Public Policy, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/transparency/committees/huma-may-8-2020/out-of-status-construction-workers.html

Immigrant arrivals, 1913 to 1965, Statistics Canada. https://www65.statcan.gc.ca/acyb02/1967/ acyb02_19670218001-eng.htm

International students are being exploited in Peel and they're dying, say advocates, Brampton Guardian. https://www.bramptonguardian.com/ news-story/10475154-international-students-arebeing-exploited-in-peel-and-they-re-dying-say-advocates/

Inventing International Students: Exploring Discourses in International Student Policy Talk, 1945–75, Dale M. McCartney, University of British Columbia. https://historicalstudiesineducation.ca/ index.php/edu_hse-rhe/article/view/4457/4727

My work permit expired and I did not apply to extend it. Can I stay and keep working in Canada?, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.cic.gc.ca/english/helpcentre/answer. asp?qnum=192&top=17

Notice—Supplementary Information for the 2022-2024 Immigration Levels Plan, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/news/notices/supplementary-immigration-levels-2022-2024.html

Pandemic takes tragic toll on international students with rising deaths by suicide: report, Global News. https://globalnews.ca/news/7745098/pandemictakes-tragic-toll-on-international-students-with-rising-deaths-by-suicide-report/ Permanent Resident Program, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. https://www. canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/ corporate/publications-manuals/operational-bulletins-manuals/permanent-residence.html

The Economic Impact of the Seasonal Agricultural Worker Program in the Ontario Horticulture Sector, Al Mussell, Agri-Food Economic Systems. https://cahrc-ccrha.ca/sites/default/ files/2021-11/2015-04-EconomicImpactSAWPHorticulture-Apr-15.pdf

The Regularization of Non[®]Status Immigrants in Canada 1960–2004, KAIROS Canada. https://www. kairoscanada.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/ The-Regularization-of-NonStatus-Immigrants-in-Canada-1960-2004.pdf

The State of Canadian Post-Secondary Education, 2018, Alex Usher, Higher Education Strategy Associates. https://higheredstrategy.com/the-state-of-ca-nadian-pse-2018/

The Status Of Migrant Farm Workers In Canada, 2020, Ufcw Canada And The Agriculture Workers Alliance. https://ml.globenewswire.com/ Resource/Download/709696c3-7d67-4d2d-bf71e600701a2c8c

Tuition Fees By University, Universities Canada. https://www.univcan.ca/universities/facts-andstats/tuition-fees-by-university/

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The writing of this policy was done with all the current, former, and future migrants who have been, continue to be, or will be affected by the current unfair and discriminatory immigration policies of Canada, in mind. I want to acknowledge, as a migrant that was uninvited, advocating for migrants, and settling on the unceded and traditional lands of the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish), səlilwəta?ł/Selilwitulh (Tsleil-Waututh), xwmə0kwəyəm (Musqueam) Nations, that this work cannot be done without also being in solidarity with Indigenous People(s) in Canada.

I also want to acknowledge the mentorship and guidance of Amanda Aziz and Kris Statnyk, and the support of every LEVEL YPP facilitator that made this work possible. Vancouver Foundation LEVEL Youth Policy Program

We, as migrants, are here and existing, and we are essential. We deserve the same permanent status, fair rights, humanity, and dignity as anyone else living in Canada.

Vancouver Foundation is Community Inspired. We are a community foundation that connects the generosity of donors with the energy, ideas, and time of people in the community. Together, we've been making meaningful and lasting impacts in neighborhoods and communities since 1943. We work with individuals, corporations, and charitable agencies to create permanent endowment funds and then use the income to support thousands of charities. We recognize that communities are complex and that collaboration between multiple stakeholders is needed to help everyone thrive and evolve. Vancouver Foundation brings together donors, non-profits and charities, government, media and academic institutions, local leaders, and passionate individuals to build meaningful and lasting change in the province of British Columbia. We see young people, their voices and experiences as part of that vision to building meaningful change.

200–475 W. Georgia Street Vancouver, BC, V6B 4M9

level@vancouverfoundation.ca www.levelvf.ca 604.688.2204

f@LEVELVF ♥@LEVEL_VF @LEVEL_VF



AN INITIATIVE OF

vancouver

foundation